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Graphic Design Services 
RFP Question + Answer 
 
Budget + Scope 
 

1. What is the Annual Budget for services, and does it include printing? 
 
The current budget for design services is $80,000 per year. There is a separate budget 
for printing, and physical materials, such as t-shirts and step-and-repeats, which are 
budgeted into event or project-specific budgets outside of this contract. We are looking 
for a retainer to cover the design of existing programs and elements. Detailed scope will 
be fleshed out further during the contract negotiation process with the selected firm. 
Special projects may be added, and cost negotiated. 

 
2. What are the specific procurement processes for working with the Union Square 

Partnership organization? Example: city or state regulatory reporting processes, bidding 
processes, etc.  

 
Firms selected by USP must receive approval from the City of New York’s Vendor 
Information Exchange System (VENDEX) before contract commencement.  To learn 
more about VENDEX Filings, or to download the VENDEX Guide and forms, 
visit www.nyc.gov/vendex. 

 
3. Who is responsible (USP or design team) for overseeing and managing the production of 

final materials (attending press checks, supervising deliveries, etc.)? 
 

The selected firm will be responsible for managing the print production processes. USP 
is included in all communications to oversee the process, and final invoices from 
printers are sent to USP, not included in the Graphic Design Services budget. 

 
4. Do you have printing vendors that you use already?  

 
USP has a list of printers that we currently use for various items but will accept 
recommendations from the selected firm. 

 
5. Do budgets for events come from USP or are they funded through sponsors? 

 
The budget for Graphic Design Services will come from the Union Square Partnership 
and is independent of the budgets for individual events and their sponsors. 

 
6. Should the scope of work be based on the deliverables outlined in Exhibit A? 
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Yes. 
 

7. It seems like there is an intent in the overall scope of services to refresh or augment the 
identity/look and feel of USP-brand and collateral, in addition to the yearly refresh of 
program/event-branded materials. 
 
Yes, exactly. 
 

8. It is our assumption that some events or tasks might require more or less effort, and this 
may be easier and more transparent to track. Have production budgets been 
established for any items requiring 3rd party vendor production or development?  

 
The contract is for basic design services. There is no separate budget for third party 
vendor production or development. USP has allocated money to third party vendors 
before for special new elements on a case-by-case basis. These types of elements are 
not covered by this contract. 

 
9. How accurate is the “sample list” provided, and what percentage of the work does this 

represent?  
 
The sample list provided is an accurate portrayal of the annual work load, events, and 
projects, and represents roughly 95% of all work for this contract. Not included, but an 
important project for the year will be a rethinking and design of our printed district 
map. 

 
10. How many events per year should we plan for, and is the full list of elements needed for 

each event outlined? 
 

Events were outlined in the RFP Exhibit A. For event series, consistency is key, and we 
expect one design template that will undergo modest modifications for individual 
events. Each event maintains a set list of elements that must have a fresh annual design 
that builds off existing branding. Occasionally USP will swap or add small elements, such 
as giveaways, from year to year.  

 
11. Please elaborate on the scope of work for corporate presentations.  

 
To maintain a consistent look and feel, USP does not often generate presentations with 
a unique design. The selected design firm may need to evolve our corporate design as 
the brand and event materials evolve overtime. The selected firm will be responsible for 
the design and format in which content is displayed, but not the creation of content. 

 
12. Branded Products: Could you please elaborate on this scope of work? For example, 

would these include clothing, souvenirs, posters, and other materials? 
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We produce branded items to coincide with various events throughout the year. Past 
items include staff t-shirts, water bottles, umbrellas, reusable bags, and more. The 
selected firm will be responsible for producing designs that fit the specific requirements 
for each item, and for brainstorming new products and giveaways. 
 

13. Marketing Materials: Could you please elaborate on this scope of work? For example, 
can you provide a list of current marketing materials? Would you also like for us to 
create new or additional materials? and if so please describe. 
 
Marketing materials include designs and branded images for email blasts, postcard 
mailings, Eventbrite pages, letterhead for partner communications, etc. 

 
14. How much time in advance will the agency be briefed on each individual design project? 

 
Exhibit A provides a great overview of our annual projects which make up the bulk of 
work. With the selected firm we will work backwards from project print deadlines and 
build an annual schedule for the year. New design additions are generally provided six 
weeks in advance. 

 
15. Will copywriting be part of the scope of services that you are looking for? 

 
We have recently not incorporated copywriting in the scope of work. However, we have 
used these services in the past and may add the service to major projects on a case-by-
case basis. 

 
16. Is the design team responsible for hiring photographer(s) for events? 

 
No. 
 

17. For social media, is the expectation of the agency to simply provide graphics for those 
platforms to be uploaded by your marketing team? Or would you like a cost for social 
media coordination and management to be included? 

 
Union Square Partnership’s marketing team manages social media communications. The 
selected firm will develop consistent designs using professional photography USP 
already owns to promote specific programs, events, or promotions.  

 
18. In terms of signage, will the selected firm be expected to coordinate fabrication and 

installation as well as provide graphics? 
 

The selected firm is expected to coordinate fabrication of signage with USP staff. The 
bulk of signage created is for USP events, such as A-frame directional and promotional 
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signage. USP has established relationships with printers who have produced this 
material for the organization. As the entity creating the artwork, the selected firm will 
supervise the process to ensure quality and timely delivery. As mentioned above, 
printing and fabrication are part of a separate budget outside of this RFP. 

 
19. What does "maintenance" of "the USP website and event-specific micro-websites" 

constitute? Will the agency be responsible for updating content? 
 

The USP website (and event-specific micro-sites) must reflect the organization’s brand 
online. Content will be created by USP staff and partners. The design firm will be tasked 
with providing advice, guidance, as well as graphic elements to tie the website back to 
overall design. Future development of new website may be a consideration but will 
require a separate contract and is not included in the scope of this RFP. 

 
Designing for USP 
 

1. Are there challenges you are currently facing that you would like to see addressed 
through enhancements to the existing visual brand? 

 
Thanks to our strong brand identity, USP is fortunate to have attained prominent 
recognition throughout our community. We are challenged with creating new, fresh and 
interesting materials year after year, while keeping our brand consistent and instantly 
recognizable. Similarly, USP has struggled with visually distinguishing versions and types 
of publications while maintaining a consistent brand identity. 

 
2. Is there a formal list of values for the Union Square Partnership (USP)? 

 
The Union Square Partnership is a 501(c)(3), non-profit organization that works to 
ensure the Union Square district’s continued growth + success by providing a wide-
range of services and programs including visioning and planning, sustainability, 
economic development, beautification, sanitation, and marketing and events like 
Summer in the Square, Harvest in the Square, Union Square Sweat Fest and more.  
 

3. Are there any platforms or technologies that you would like to explore, moving 
forward? 
 
USP is open to exploring new web-platforms and improving our existing website. It is 
key that any new platform be simple enough for staff to update and modify on their 
own without incurring a cost and to be able to integrate with existing technologies 
(Eventbrite, Google Maps, etc.). Additionally, the platform should be mobile-friendly 
and automatically update as new standards (example: HTML 5) become commonplace. 
USP constantly strives to improve accessibility for all users. 
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4. Is there a particular idea about the Union Square Partnership that you would like to 
promote? Are there any misconceptions that you would like to overcome? 

 
USP is fortunate to represent one of the most exciting and dynamic mixed-use 
neighborhoods in New York City. We want everyone to fall in love with the existing 
features that make our district one of the most popular destinations for residents, 
visitors, storefronts, and commercial tenants. We’d most like to overcome 
misconceptions that the area has become expensive and unwelcoming for businesses 
due to a few relatively small but well-publicized closures. 

 
 
Working with USP 
 

1. Will the design team have access to existing brand guidelines and to old "print-ready" 
artwork for reuse on current/future projects? 

 
Yes. Brand guidelines will be shared and design files from previous projects will be 
available for use by the selected design team. 
 

2. Who are the decision makers on creative materials? What is the process for creative 
approvals? 
 
Designs are worked on with USP staff – primarily staff focused on marketing and 
community engagement. All final design concepts and creative materials are approved 
by Union Square Partnership’s Executive Director. 

 
3. How many rounds of revisions do you typically require to arrive at a final, approved 

concept?  
 

The majority of USP projects use three rounds of revisions once the design direction has 
been agreed upon. The only exceptions are our two major print items, The Annual 
Report and Harvest in the Square paper invitation due to their prominence with our 
partners and sponsors. 
 

4. Do you have a current strategic plan that would influence the ongoing design work for 
the next five years? 
 
USP is in the throes of a 9-month Neighborhood Planning process to create a strategic 
vision for the district. While the primary focus of this process will be to identify a plan 
for targeted, coordinated future capital investments, the projects will likely shape and 
influence the design of USP materials. 
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5. Can you speak to your role and responsibilities as the LDC in comparison to that of your 
partnering BID? 
 
The Union Square Partnership is made up of two organizations that share 
responsibilities to serve our community – a local development corporation (LDC) and 
business improvement district (BID). The two organizations work together and should be 
approached as one united entity. The distinction between the two has no bearing on 
this RFP and will only be referenced in legal contracting for accounting purposes. 
 

6. What metrics or KPIs will you use to measure the success of the graphic design firm’s 
work with USP over the next five years? 
 
The performance of USP’s brand can be difficult to quantify. The success of the work will 
translate into great brand-recognition from stakeholders, community members, and 
partners. Metrics USP pays attention to include engagement with social media 
campaigns, sign-up for USP events and programs, as well as programmatic attendance. 
Additionally, USP conducts annual surveys of our members that include questions about 
the performance of our marketing materials. 

 
7. Can you provide a list of the key USP positions/roles with whom the graphic design firm 

will be working closely? 
 
The Deputy Director will serve as project manager and work closely with the selected 
firm over the course of the contract. Annual planning and major events (such as the 
Annual Meeting and Harvest in the Square) will occur with direction and consultation of 
the Executive Director. 

 
8. How long have you worked with previous studios/firms/agencies in the past, and has it 

often been in 5-year cycles?  
 

Relationships with previous firms have spanned 5 – 10 years. As per our contract with 
the City of New York and our procurement policy, USP is required to reissue an RFP to 
make sure we provide our constituents with the best services for the best price.  

 
9. How will the process kick off once the firm is selected?  

 
Following selection and contracting of the selected firm, USP will provide the awarded 
firm with a package of design files for all previous projects from our existing design firm. 
USP will convene a meeting to review annual projects and work will begin immediately, 
particularly for Harvest in the Square designs. 

 
 
 


